UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA % CRIMINAL NO.: 10-032
V. % SECTION: “B”
MICHAEL LOHMAN % VIOLATIONS: 18 U.S.C. § 371

FACTUAL BASIS

If this matter were to go to trial, the Government would prove, through the
introduction of competent testimony and admissible tangible exhibits, the following facts,
beyond a reasonable doubt, to support the allegations in the Bill of Information now pending
against defendant MICHAEL LOHMAN. The defendant has agreed to plead guilty to
conspiring with other New Orleans Police Department Officers to commit the following
offenses against the United States:

a. to knowingly falsify and make a false entry in a document with intent to impede,
obstruct, or influence the investigation or proper administration of a matter within federal

jurisdiction, or in relation to and in contemplation of such a matter, in violation of Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1519;




b. to knowingly engage in misleading conduct toward another person with intent to
hinder, delay, or prevent the communication of truthful information to a federal law
enforcement officer or judge of information relating to the commission or possible
commission of a federal offense, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
1512(b)(3); and

c. to knowingly and willfully make materially false statements or representations in
a matter within the jurisdiction of the FBI, an agency of the executive branch of the United
States, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.

All in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, as charged in the Bill of Information.

The Shootings and the Start of the Conspiracy

In 2005, defendant LOHMAN was a Lieutenant with the New Orleans Police
Department (NOPD), assigned to NOPD’s Seventh District. On September 4, 2005, in
the wake of Hurricane Katrina, the defendant and his fellow Seventh District officers
were working out of a temporary station at the Crystal Palace on Chef Menteur Highway.
That morning, defendant LOHMAN was at the Crystal Palace when he learned a radio
call for police assistance at the Danziger Bridge and he saw numerous NOPD officers
load into a large Budget rental truck and head toward the bridge. Defendant LOHMAN
responded to the bridge shortly after the officers in the Budget truck responded, and he

arrived to find that the officers in the truck had been involved in two separate shooting

incidents on the bridge. The first shooting incident, on the east side of the bridge,




resulted in the death of one civilian (later identified as J.B.), and the wounding of four
other civilians (later identified as J.H. and three other members of the B. Family). The
second shooting incident, on the west side of the bridge, resulted in the death of one
civilian (later identified as Ronald Madison, a 40-year-old severely disabled man).

When defendant LOHMAN arrived at the bridge, he saw the dead or severely-
injured civilians on the east side and noticed that there were no guns on or near the
civilians. When officers at the scene could not identify any evidence that would justify
the shooting, defendant LOHMAN concluded that the officers had been involved in a
“bad shoot” (a shooting incident that was legally unjustified). Defendant LOHMAN
spoke to two sergeants on the scene, Sergeant A and Sergeant B, who claimed that the
civilians had fired at the police and that the police had shot in self-defense. When
defendant LOHMAN asked them where all of the civilians’ guns had gone, the sergeants
did not have a good explanation. Defendant LOHMAN then instructed the sergeants to
go decide what happened and then to come back to tell defendant LOHMAN. Defendant
LOHMAN intended for the sergeants and the other officers involved in the shooting to
come up with a plausible story that would allow defendant LOHMAN and other
supervisors to conclude that the shooting was justified.

While still on the bridge, defendant LOHMAN instructed a sergeant under his

command (the Investigator), to take charge of the investigation into the shooting incident.

The Investigator, under defendant LOHMAN’s supervision, began investigating the




matter as the attempted murder of the police officers who had driven to the bridge in the
Budget truck. At the crime scene, defendant LOHMAN and the other officers purposely
neglected to take steps that would have allowed for a true investigation of the incident to
occur. Among other things, they failed to conduct or direct evidence-collection at the
scene; they failed to diagram the scene or conduct a neighborhood canvass, or ensure that
someone else would do so; and they left the scene without any evidence having been
picked up, even though there were numerous officers at the scene — and several homicide
investigators under defendant LOHMAN’s command — who were available and able to
work the scene.

On the day of the shooting, defendant LOHMAN did not hear NOPD
Superintendent Eddie Compass on the radio. However, when defendant LOHMAN
assigned the investigation to the Investigator, the Investigator responded, “21 NAT, Babe,
we don’t have to do anything.” The abbreviation “NAT” stands for “Necessary Action
Taken,” and defendant LOHMAN understood the Investigator to mean that he did not
think he had to write a report. Defendant LOHMAN told the Investigator that he did
have to write a report.

The Planted Gun

Sometime after the shooting, the Investigator told defendant LOHMAN, “I have a

gun and I’m going to put it under the bridge.” Defendant LOHMAN understood that the

[nvestigator was going to plant a weapon to be used as evidence to justify the police




